IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 84,977

DONALD GUNSBY,

Appellee.

FILED
SID J. WANTE
JUN 9 1995
JUN SPECIAL CONTROL
BY J Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR #998818 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. 5TH FL. DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from the December 20, 1994 order entered by Marion County Circuit Judge Thomas Sawaya vacating Gunsby's sentence of death. $^{\rm 1}$

On November 9, 1988, a Marion County trial jury found Gunsby guilty of first-degree murder. (PCR 324). Following the penalty phase proceedings, that jury recommended that Gunsby be sentenced to death by a vote of nine to three. On January 3, 1989, the trial judge followed that recommendation and imposed a sentence of death. This court affirmed Gunsby's conviction and death sentence on January 15, 1991. Gunsby v. State, 574 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 1991). On October 7, 1991, the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari review. Gunsby v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 136 (1991).

On January 29, 1993, Gunsby filed his motion to vacate judgement and sentence pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. (PCR 320 et seq). An evidentiary hearing was conducted during the week of March 14, 1994, during which evidence was presented as to certain claims set out in that motion. Both parties submitted proposed findings of fact following the conclusion of the hearing, and final argument was conducted on June 30, 1994. On December 20, 1994, the 3.850 trial court entered its order vacating Gunsby's death sentence

Circuit Judge Raymond McNeal was the judge at Gunsby's capital trial. Judge Sawaya presided over the 3.850 proceedings.

The citation form "PCR____" refers to the record of the 3.850 proceedings. The citation form "TR___" refers to the direct appeal record.

based upon a finding of two specific instances of ineffective assistance of counsel. The state gave notice of appeal from the granting of sentence stage relief on January 3, 1995. (PCR 3566-67). The record was certified as complete and transmitted on April 13, 1995. (PCR 3579).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In affirming Gunsby's conviction on direct appeal, this Court summarized the evidence against Gunsby in the following way:

> The relevant facts established at trial are as follows. On April 20, 1988, Donald Gunsby was attending a party in Ocala where he was told that a friend had been in an altercation with one of the proprietors of a nearby grocery store. Gunsby and others went man who had supposedly fought with their friend was no longer at the store. Gunsby threatened to hurt the man if he returned to the store. After a visit to the hospital to see their friend, Gunsby and the others returned to the party. While there, according to one witness, Gunsby stated that he was "tired of those damn Iranians $\stackrel{\text{res}}{FN}$ messing with Gunsby then left the party the black." again, and when he returned he was wearing a camouflage suit. According to one witness, Gunsby had a qun.

> The evidence at trial established that at 9:30 p.m. Donald Gunsby entered the grocery store wearing camouflage clothing. Without saying anything, he fired one shot from a shotgun at the victim, who was the brother of the man who had supposedly fought with Gunsby's friend earlier that day. Gunsby immediately ran from the store, followed unsuccessfully by the victim's brother, who fired three shots from a pistol at Gunsby as he fled.

FN The proprietors of the grocery store were Iranian.

Gunsby returned to the party briefly and, according to one witness, said that he had taken care of the problem. He was later identified from a photo lineup and at trial by the cashier of the convenience store and by the victim's brother, both of whom were eyewitnesses to the shooting.

The medical examiner testified that the victim died of a shotgun wound to the right side of the chest. The wound was one and three-quarter inches diameter and caused massive hemorrhaging and injury to the right lung, liver, and The victim's body contained heart. shotgun pellets, dozens οf and rendered an opinion that the doctor victim had been conscious for up to a minute and had died within two to three minutes after being shot.

Gunsby presented several witnesses who testified that he was away from the scene on the evening of the offense. He also presented a police testified that he officer who overheard the victim's father identify another man as the murderer, and Gunsby presented a man who had been in jail with him who testified that Gunsby had him that one of the state's told witnesses was lying to protect boyfriend, whom Gunsby believed was the killer. The jury found Gunsby guilty of first-degree murder, as charged in the indictment.

Gunsby v. State, 574 So. 2d at 1086-87.

At the penalty phase of Gunsby's trial, as found by this Court, the state introduced documentary evidence "concerning Gunsby's prior offenses involving violence, specifically, an aggravated assault committed in 1967, for which he was sentenced to three and one half years in the state prison system, and an armed robbery committed in 1971, for which he was sentenced to ten years in the state prison system." *Id.* Additionally,

evidence was presented that Gunsby had been convicted of possession of a firearm by felon, carrying a concealed firearm, and having an improper license plate. *Id*. For the two felony offenses, Gunsby was to have served 18 months in prison, followed by two years of community control. *Id*. At the time of the murder (April 20, 1988) there was an outstanding warrant for Gunsby's arrest because he had failed to report to jail on March 9, 1988, as ordered. *Id*.

This Court further found that:

The state also presented a witness who was an acquaintance of Gunsby and who testified that he saw Gunsby at the party on the day of the murder and that Gunsby was behaving normally. In addition, the state presented a courtappointed psychiatrist who testified that Gunsby did not suffer from mental illness, was competent to stand trial, and was able to distinguish right from wrong on the day of the murder.

Gunsby presented two witnesses in the penalty phase who testified that he was a good neighbor who liked children. also presented two mental experts. The first testified Gunsby was mildly retarded, spelling skills at third-grade level, reading skills at a fourth-grade level, and an IQ of less than fifty-nine. However, he also testified that Gunsby not schizophrenic or otherwise mentally ill. The other mental health expert testified that Gunsby was, indeed, schizophrenic, incompetent to stand trial, insane at the time of the offense, and a candidate for involuntary hospitalization. This psychologist also testified that Gunsby's comprehension was at a third-grade level and his verbal skills were at an eighth-The state extensively grade level. cross-examined this witness, in light of the obvious conflict with the other mental health experts.

Gunsby v. State, 574 So. 2d at 1087-88.

The jury returned an advisory sentence of death by a nine to three vote, and, in following that recommendation, the trial court found the following three aggravating circumstances:

- That the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner;
- 2. That Gunsby had been previously convicted of felonies involving the use or threat of violence;
- 3. That Gunsby was under sentence of imprisonment when he committed the murder. Id. As non-statutory mitigation, the trial court found that Gunsby is mildly mentally retarded and functions intellectually at the third or fourth grade level. Id. In weighing the aggravation against the mitigation, the trial court found that "viewed in the light of the defendant's past history of violence and the circumstances of this case, defendant's mental condition carries little weight." Id. (emphasis added).

The Post-Conviction Hearing Evidence

At the post-conviction hearing, approximately forty witnesses testified and approximately 100 documentary exhibits were introduced. See, e.g., PCR 3545. The bulk of that evidence does not pertain to the narrow issue before this court and is not discussed at length herein.

The circuit court granted sentence stage relief based upon two specifications of ineffective assistance of counsel:

1) Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to object to false and improper statements made by the prosecutor about Mr. Gunsby's prior criminal history;

2) Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in investigating and presenting evidence of the mitigating circumstances of the defendant's mental condition to the jury.

PCR 3550-51. As to the first component of this issue, the 3.850 evidence (which is found in the direct appeal record) is that Gunsby was charged with assault with intent to murder in 1967 and ultimately pleaded guilty to the lesser included offense of aggravated assault. A firearm was used by Gunsby in the commission of the offense. State's Exhibit 12-A. The evidence also established that Gunsby had been charged, in 1971, with the offenses of robbery and possession of a firearm during a felony. State's Exhibit 12-B. Gunsby pleaded guilty to the robbery charge. Id., see also, State's Exhibit 12-C. Judgements of conviction, which were a part of the direct appeal record and which are also exhibits in this appeal, indicate both the original charge and the final disposition in each case. Id.

In closing argument, the prosecutor argued that Gunsby had been convicted of assault with intent to murder, robbery, and use of a firearm during a felony. Trial counsel did not object to that argument, and the 3.850 trial court found "that such omissions ... deprived Mr. Gunsby of the right to effective assistance of counsel." (PCR 3555). The lower court found that the absence of an objection was deficient performance and (by

Exhibits 12-A, 12-B, and 12-C are appended to this brief for the convenience of the Court. The original exhibit numbers are used herein for consistency. These exhibits are contained in Volume 7 of the direct appeal record, but the pages are not numbered.

inference) that, had counsel objected, there was a reasonable probability of a different result. (PCR 3557-58).

The lower court also found that "the failure of [trial counsel] to have Mr. Gunsby examined by qualified mental health experts concerning the mitigating factors of his mental condition, especially his organic brain damage, and to accurately present that mitigating evidence to the jury was deficient and constituted an error so serious that Mr. Gunsby was denied the counsel guaranteed by the 6th Amendment...". (PCR 3563-64).

The evidence at the 3.850 hearing was that Gunsby's full scale IQ score was 57 on a test administered in October of 1988, and, in February of 1994, Gunsby attained a full scale IQ score of 66. (PCR 3558). Those full scale IQ scores fall within the range of mild mental retardation.

The lower court found that Gunsby "suffers from organic brain damage and a personality disorder with immature and dependent features." (PCR 3558). That court also found that "[e]vidence of Mr. Gunsby's organic brain damage was never presented to the jury because the orders appointing the three expert witnesses, Dr. Mhatre, Dr. Poetter, and Dr. Conley, did not order or request that they evaluate the defendant for statutory and non-statutory mitigating factors." (PCR 3559-60). (emphasis added).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Marion Circuit Court's grant of sentence stage relief based upon two specifications of ineffective assistance of counsel is an abuse of discretion which should be reversed. That court did not properly apply the Strickland v. Washington standard, and erroneously found not only deficient performance but also prejudice. The lower court did not give proper deference to trial counsel's performance, instead evaluating trial counsel based on hindsight. Of course, that sort of evaluation of trial counsel's performance is flatly prohibited by Strickland and the cases that have followed it.

Rather than demonstrating that the approach taken by trial counsel would not have been used by a reasonable attorney, Gunsby done no more than demonstrate that his post-conviction counsel would have tried the case differently. That is not enough to establish deficient performance, and the trial court's finding in that regard is erroneous. The lower court also erroneously found that there was a reasonable probability of a different result. Gunsby's case is heavily aggravated, and the evidence of guilt, and the evidence concerning the aggravating circumstances that are indisputably present, is overwhelming. The lower court's finding of Strickland prejudice is contrary to law which has recognized that, in extremely settled case aggravated cases, additional "mitigation" would not produce a different result. The first ground relied on by the lower court to set aside Gunsby's death sentence turns upon that court's determination that counsel could have prevented a misstatement by

the prosecutor concerning Gunsby's criminal history. The lower court's decision is erroneous for three reasons. First, there is no dispute that, under Florida's Death Penalty Act, the state has an absolute right to introduce the facts and circumstances of a defendant's prior felony convictions during the penalty phase of a capital trial. In this case, each of the violent felonies for which Gunsby has been convicted was disposed of by the plea of guilty to a lesser included offense of the one charged in the information. While the prosecutor did in fact misspeak as to the charges for which Gunsby was convicted, the fact that remains inescapable is that Gunsby pleaded guilty to aggravated assault which rose out of an original charge of assault with intent to murder involving a firearm, and that Gunsby pleaded guilty to robbery in which a firearm was used. Obviously, both aggravated assault and robbery are violent felonies under Florida law, and, likewise, there would have been no way for trial counsel to prevent the jury from learning that a firearm was used in both of those crimes. The second reason that the lower court's order is erroneous is that the lower court ignored the presumption that juries follow the instructions given by the court. The penalty phase jury was specifically instructed that arguments of counsel are not evidence, and that robbery and aggravated assault are felonies involving the use or threat of violence under Florida This aggravator is established beyond any reasonable doubt, and no inaccurate or misleading evidence was placed before the It makes utterly no sense to find ineffectiveness of jury. counsel in this case when, under settled law, the improper admission of a prior conviction cannot establish prejudice when there is another properly admitted prior conviction in existence. The third reason that the lower court's order should be vacated is because the reliance placed by that court on Johnson v. Mississippi is improper. There is no Johnson error in this case because none of Gunsby's prior convictions have ever been set aside. Even if Johnson was applicable to this case, that would not be dispositive because harmless error analysis is properly applied in the case of Johnson error. If harmless error applies when the jury is given wrong information concerning the defendant's criminal history, it makes absolutely no sense to find ineffective assistance of counsel in this case, when the evidence before the jury was unquestionably accurate.

The second component of the trial court's order granting relief dealt with what the lower court determined to be deficient performance and (presumably) prejudice in the presentation of mental state mitigation at the penalty phase of Gunsby's capital The lower court's order granting relief is an abuse of trial. discretion because that court placed far too much emphasis on the claimed "organic brain damage" which Gunsby's newest expert witnesses have diagnosed. What the trial court did not consider is that the evidence at the penalty phase of Gunsby's capital trial indicated that Gunsby was far worse off psychologically than does the evidence presented at the 3.850 hearing. The penalty phase jury heard evidence that Gunsby was a paranoid schizophrenic, that he came from a dysfunctional family, and that he was mildly mentally retarded. In contrast, the 3.850 evidence was that Gunsby was not paranoid schizophrenic, but rather suffered from "diffuse organic brain damage", and was mildly mentally retarded. Of course, paranoid schizophrenia is a far stronger mitigator than is "diffuse organic brain damage", particularly under the facts of this case. The paranoid schizophrenia fit the defense theory that Gunsby committed the crime under a delusion, while the organic brain damage has utterly nothing to do with the facts of the crime.

The lower court improperly evaluated the performance of trial counsel through hindsight, rather than from counsel's perspective at the time of trial. The testimony of the most recently selected mental state experts is inconsistent, a factor which greatly diminishes the force of that testimony. addition, the lynch pin of the lower court's order granting relief is that trial counsel did not specifically request the mental state experts (at trial) to evaluate Gunsby for organic brain damage. Organic brain damage is a mental disorder that would be detected by a mental health expert in the course of an evaluation, just as would any other mental disease or disorder. There is no evidence in the record to support the trial court's conclusion that the mental state experts who testified at trial would not have detected organic brain damage in the absence of instructions to look for that disorder. Perhaps the best explanation for the original mental state experts "failure" to diagnose organic brain damage is the fact that it does not exist or has such a minimal effect on Gunby's behavior as to be insignificant. The trial court's ruling that Gunsby is entitled to a new penalty phase based upon the enumerated specifications of ineffective assistance of counsel is an abuse of discretion which should be reversed. The death sentence should be reinstated.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRONEOUSLY GRANTED SENTENCE STAGE RELIEF ON INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL GROUNDS

The issues on appeal before this Court deal solely with the lower court's finding of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase of Gunsby's capital trial. While the two findings of ineffective of assistance are based upon different operative facts, they are governed by the same legal standard. For the reasons set out below, the ineffective assistance of counsel finding should be reversed and the death sentence reinstated.

A. The Legal Standard

The legal standard for evaluating ineffective assistance of counsel claims is the familiar two-part test set out in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Under the Strickland standard, the defendant must show not only deficient performance on the part of counsel, but also that but-for counsel's deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability of a different result. Id., at 687. A "reasonable probability" is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Sims v. State, 602 So.2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1992). As stated by this Court in Maxwell v. Wainwright,

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, to be considered meritorious, must include two general components. First, claimant must identify a particular acts or omissions of the lawyer that are shown to be outside the reasonably competent broad range of performance under prevailing professional standards. Second, clear, substantial deficiency shown must further be demonstrated to have SO affected fairness and the the

reliability of the proceeding that confidence in the outcome is undermined. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Downs v. State, 453 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 1984). A court considering a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel need not make a specific ruling on the performance component of the test when it is clear that the prejudice component is not satisfied.

Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986). As Maxwell makes clear, both components must be established before the petitioner has met his burden of proof.

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