IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 18 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 84,977

DONALD GUNSBY,

Appellee.

_____/

REPLY/ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GÉNERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR #998818 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. 5TH FL. DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32119 (904) 238-4990

Counsel for Appellant

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Gunsby's ineffective assistance of counsel argument regarding his criminal history is improperly based upon Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1998). Johnson does not control the issue because the issue in Johnson is not present in this case. To the extent that Gunsby is attempting to raise a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel predicated upon the fact that the jury was informed of the nature of the offenses which resulted in Gunsby being under sentence of imprisonment at the time of this murder, that claim is not properly briefed, and, moreover, is procedurally barred. Claims of ineffectiveness of counsel cannot be used to avoid the preclusive effect a procedural bar. To the extent that Gunsby seeks to rely upon a "jury study" which consisted of simulated jury deliberations, that testimony was never admitted as substantive evidence, and was not relied on by the lower court. The trial court erred in granting sentence stage relief on the ineffectiveness of counsel claim as it relates to state's argument concerning Gunsby's prior criminal the

- 8 -

⁴ The term "fake smart" means scoring higher on an intelligence test than one's IQ actually is.

convictions. The lower court abused its discretion in granting relief, and that decision should be reversed.

Gunsby's argument regarding the ineffectiveness of counsel claim relating to the presentation of mental state testimony does not establish that the lower court properly decided this issue. The fundamental component of this claim is the undisputed fact that the sentencing court found that Gunsby is mentally retarded, and found that to be mitigating. The confidential expert who testified at trial testified concerning various matters that fall within the purview of both statutory and non-statutory mitigation--whether or not the court order appointing that expert directed a mitigation evaluation is not the point. Trial counsel presented mental state mitigation, and the trial court did, in fact, find mental state factors in mitigation. To the extent that Gunsby argues that death is disproportionate in this case, none of the cases relied upon by him are controlling because they are distinguishable on their facts.

CROSS-APPEAL

Gunsby's claim that he is entitled to relief based upon ineffectiveness of trial counsel in the presentation of mitigation evidence regarding his background and early life is not a basis for relief. The lower court did not address this claim, but the facts necessary to decide it are found in the record. When the evidence presented at trial is considered alongside the evidence presented at the 3.850 hearing, the latter is little more than a cumulative version of the evidence that was already before the jury. There can be no deficiency when the

- 9 --

evidence the defendant claims was omitted is cumulative as to the other evidence and an expert testified concerning the same subject. Gunsby has not established deficient performance on the part of trial counsel, nor has he demonstrated prejudice. In order to carry his burden of proof under *Strickland v. Washington*, he must establish both components--he has demonstrated neither, and has not met his burden of proof.

Gunsby's claim of ineffectiveness of counsel based upon counsel's failure to object to the excusal of certain members of the venire is procedurally barred because it was raised and addressed on direct appeal by this court. Florida law is settled that a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel does not circumvent the rule that post-conviction proceedings do not serve as a second appeal. To the extent that Gunsby raises a "reverse-Witherspoon" component this claim, that component is to procedurally barred for the same reasons. Moreover, this claim is without merit based upon this court's direct appeal decision in this case, wherein this court found that the lower court had excused jurors who had affirmatively stated that they would not be able to discharge their duties as jurors. There can be no error in not objecting to the excusal of those jurors, and Gunsby cannot carry his burden of proof under Strickland. The reverse-Witherspoon/ineffectiveness of counsel claim, has no factual basis because the trial court "life qualified" the venire. There is no error, and, hence, no ineffectiveness of counsel.

Gunsby's claim that trial counsel was ineffective in not objecting to the jury instruction given on the cold, calculated,

- 10 -

and premeditated aggravating circumstance is foreclosed by binding precedent. The prior decisions of this court expressly hold that failure to object to the pre-*Jackson* cold, calculated, and premeditated jury instruction is not ineffective assistance of counsel.

Gunsby's claim that he was incompetent at the time of his 1988 trial is barred by a double layer of procedural bar. The competency claim could have been but was not raised on direct appeal, and is, therefore, procedurally barred from review in this collateral proceeding. Moreover, this claim is also procedurally barred because it is apparent from the original trial record. Alternatively and secondarily, this claim is meritless. Trial counsel had no difficulty communicating with Gunsby, and did not believe his client to be incompetent. Competency determinations are matters for the trial court, and a determination of competence is only reversible for an abuse of discretion. There is no abuse of discretion in this case, and there is no basis for relief on this procedurally barred claim.

Gunsby's claim that he received ineffective assistance of mental state experts is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal. This claim is also procedurally barred because it is raised for the first time in Gunsby's appeal from the trial court's ruling on the 3.850 motion. Alternatively and secondarily, Gunsby has not demonstrated any due process violation, and, hence, can establish no basis for relief. because it could have been but was not raised at trial or on direct appeal. Alternatively and secondarily, Gunsby's claim has no legal basis. This Court and the United States Supreme Court have both decided this issue adversely to Gunsby, and there is no reason to revisit this court's prior decisions.

Insofar as the guilt phase component of the 3.850 motion is concerned, Gunsby argues that the lower court applied an improper standard in resolving the Brady claim against him. A fair reading of the lower court's order leaves no doubt that that court applied the proper standard, which is "no reasonable probability of a different result". The Brady claim is predicated upon the non-disclosure of the criminal history of an eyewitness, who was also the brother of the murder victim. Even if Gunsby had had that witness's criminal history, it would have made no difference because it would have had no effect on the credibility of that witness. Insofar as Diane Williams is concerned, she testified at trial that she had previously been convicted of a felony. She was charged with a technical violation of probation, but the evidence establishes that the disposition of that charge was in no way connected to her testimony in the Gunsby case, and, moreover, the ultimate disposition of the technical violation was not at all unusual. There is no reasonable probability of a different result if the non-disclosed evidence had been presented to the jury because of the corroboration present from the testimony of other witnesses.

Gunsby's guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails because he cannot carry his burden of proof under

- 12 -

Strickland v. Washington. The matters at issue in connection with this claim are strategic decisions only, which are presumptively competent. Gunsby can establish neither deficient performance nor prejudice, and, consequently, is not entitled to relief.

Gunsby's newly-discovered evidence claim fails because none of the evidence is newly discovered, and, moreover, would not "probably produce an acquittal on retrial". The undisputed physical evidence is consistent with the testimony of the eyewitnesses who testified at Gunsby's capital trial, and is wholly inconsistent with the evidence that Gunsby claims is "newly" discovered. Even if the evidence is in fact newly discovered, it would not change the result because the version of events contained within the "new" evidence is incredible.

Gunsby's claim of cumulative error is not a basis for reversal of his conviction because none of the errors which he attempts to aggregate are, in fact, error. Because there is no error, there is nothing to aggregate and the cumulative error claim collapses for want of a legal basis.

ARGUMENT

I. IN REPLY TO THE ARGUMENT AS TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL REGARDING GUNSBY'S CRIMINAL HISTORY

On pp. 35-40 of his brief, Gunsby perpetuates the trial court's error by relying on cases which were based upon *Johnson v. Mississippi*, 486 U.S. 578 (1988). *Johnson* does not control this issue for the reasons set out in the state's initial brief. Moreover, Gunsby's reliance on *Duest v. Singletary*, 997 F.2d 1336 (11th Cir. 1993), is misplaced for the same reasons. *Duest* involved only

- 13 -

Johnson error, though Gunsby does not include that fact in his brief. See, e.g., Duest v. Singletary, 997 F.2d at 1339. Gunsby's claim that the state's brief does not respond to the "sort of prejudice" found in Duest is a non sequitur: the "prejudice" found in Duest does not exist in this case.⁵

To the extent that Gunsby purports to raise a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel in footnote 18 on p. 36 of his brief, a footnote is a singularly inappropriate method of briefing a claim or ground for relief. Duest v. State, 555 So. 2d 849 (Fla. 1990). This "claim" is not properly briefed, and this Court should decline to address it for that reason. However, even if this claim is considered to have been properly presented, it is no more than an attempt by Gunsby to avoid the preclusive effect of a procedural bar by presenting a procedurally barred claim as one charging ineffective assistance counsel. This court has repeatedly held that claims of ineffectiveness of counsel cannot be used to escape an applicable procedural bar. Cherry v. State, No. 83,773, ms.op at 4-5 (Fla., Aug. 31, 1995). Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1991) Kight v. Dugger, 574 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1990).

While the trial court did not reach this claim, there is no reason that the matter cannot be disposed of by this court on legal grounds alone. Gunsby relies on *Mann* to support his claim of ineffectiveness because, he claims, it was error to inform the jury of the offense which resulted in Gunsby being under sentence

⁵ As a decision of an intermediate Federal Court, *Duest* (and every other Circuit Court of Appeals decision relied on by Gunsby) is not binding on this court.

of imprisonment at the time of this murder.⁶ Reliance on Mann is misplaced because that decision was not in any way concerned with the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator, but was, instead, concerned with the question of whether or not the defendant's prior conviction was in fact for a violent felony. Mann, 420 So. Gunsby points to no authority for his position 2d at 580. because no such authority exists. It strains credulity to suggest that the jury must determine the applicability of the under sentence of imprisonment aggravator in a vacuum, and there grounds of relief, particularly on basis for is no ineffectiveness of counsel.

Gunsby also argues, in truncated fashion, that he would have been able to keep the facts underlying his prior felonies from the jury. However, that argument is predicated upon Gunsby's refusal to recognize that the documentary evidence was in fact sufficient evidence of the underlying charges, which, in fact, could have been established through hearsay testimony. See, e.g., Waterhouse v. State, 596 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1992); See also, Koon v. State, 513 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1987).

The fact, which overrides all others in connection with this issue, is that the prior violent felony aggravator was established beyond a reasonable doubt. What should also not be the subject of debate is the fact that the *evidence* before the jury was accurate in all respects. The jury was correctly instructed about this aggravating circumstance and, of course, the jury is presumed to follow its instructions. *See, e.g., Sochor*

6

Mann v. State, 420 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1982).

v. Florida, 112 S.Ct. 2114 (1993); Gorby v. State, 630 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 1993). Gunsby ignores these facts, and succeeded in convincing the lower court to do likewise. That ruling is an abuse of discretion which not only flies in the face of settled legal principles, but also grants relief to a defendant who has wholly failed to establish the prejudice prong of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).⁷ There is absolutely no reasonable probability of a different result and this claim fails because of that failure of proof. The trial court's grant of relief should be reversed.

To the extent that Gunsby relies on the "jury study" to support his position, three comments are dispositive. First, the testimony concerning that study was admitted *only* as a proffer, never as substantive evidence. (PCR 628). Second, the trial court (quite correctly) did not rely on that study in any way. (PCR 3558). Gunsby's brief does not explain how that "study" can establish prejudice (under Strickland) when it was not admitted into evidence and was not relied upon by the trial court.

Moreover, there are three independently adequate reasons why the "jury study" has no probative value. First, to sanction the use of a study such as this one is to wholly eviscerate the basic principle of trial by jury and replace that doctrine with speculative, after-the-fact critiques of *mock* juries whose "performance" is evaluated by a handpicked expert. That theory is the very antithesis of a system of justice founded on trial by

^{&#}x27; The state does not concede that counsel's performance was deficient, either.

jury. Second, the inherent deficiencies present in such a study undermine its value to the extent that it is of no assistance to the finder of fact. The mock juries in this case were not subjected to any voir dire examination; in no way approximated the demographics of the actual jury; heard none of the guilt phase evidence or jury instructions; and were well aware that, regardless of their verdict, no one would be punished because of anything they did. In summary, the mock juries in no way approximated any penalty phase jury, and certainly did not feel the weight of responsibility felt by an actual juror in a capital trial. Third, there is absolutely no indication (much less any evidence) that Gunsby's penalty phase jury acted in the same fashion as did the mock juries. Regardless of what the study does prove, and the state suggests that it proves nothing, that study fails to make the transition from the academic to the practical. Neither this study nor any other can determine what actually happened in this or any other case. Because of that failure, the study has no evidentiary value.

Florida law is settled that a juror may not impeach the verdict of a jury upon which he served. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 593 So. 2d 206, 210 (Fla. 1992). The sanctity of jurv deliberations is so highly regarded that counsel is flatly prohibited from post-trial interviews of jurors absent an extremely compelling need. Fla. Rule Pro. Conduct, 4-3.5(d). Gunsby may argue that because of these rules, he can only attack the jury's comprehension by use of a mock jury. The defect in that argument, which Gunsby cannot overcome, is that it is

- 17 -

internally inconsistent to afford the jury (and its verdict) the dignity it is due and at the same time allow that verdict to be attacked through an after-the-fact critique of the performance of a *simulated* jury. That is not, and should not be the law. While the study done in this case is perhaps of academic interest, that is the extent of its value. Even setting aside the defects that infect that study, its use in this fashion is inconsistent with 500 years of jury trials and the respect afforded the verdict of a jury.

To the extent that Gunsby relies on Jackson v. Herring, 42 F.3d 1350 (11th Cir. 1995), to support his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, that is an attempt to put a square peg in a round hole. In Jackson, trial counsel apparently chose not to call mitigation witnesses because of the fear that doing so might open the door to the state's presentation of evidence of another charge pending against the defendant. *Id.*, at 1366, 1368. What appears to be, on its face, a sound strategic decision was actually deficient performance because there was no other charge pending against the defendant. *Id.* The peculiar facts of Jackson have no bearing on this case.

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